047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,394

THIRD DCA CASE NO. 85-2863

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, MIAMI LODGE 20,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF MIAMI,

Respondent.

APR SUPREME COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, MIAMI LODGE 20

By: ROBERT D. KLAUSNER
ATKINSON, JENNE, DINER, STONE
COHEN & KLAUSNER. P.A.
1946 Tyler Street
Post Office Drawer 2088
Hollywood, Florida 33022-2088
Telephone: (305) 925-5501/944-1882

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

AFSCME v. State Labor Relations Board, 546 N.E.2d 687 (Ill.App. 1st Dist. 1989)
Amalgamated Transit Union Division 1279 v. Cambria County Transit Authority, Case No. PERA-C-88-133-W (PLRB 1989) 32
<u>Austin-Berryhill, Inc</u> ., 246 NLRB 1139 (1979) 25
Bradford County School Board, 6 FPER 11228 (1980) 14
Central Florida Professional Firefighters v. Board of County Commissioners, 9 FPER 14372, aff'd, 467 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)
<u>City of Buffalo</u> , Case No. U-8922 (1987)
<u>City of Miami v. FOP, Miami Lodse 20, 511 So.2d 549</u> (Fla. 1987)
<u>City of New Haven</u> , Case No. MPT-10,432 (CT 1987) 31
<u>City of Royal Oak</u> , Case No. C87 D-107 (Mich. PERC 71388) 31
City of Tallahassee v. PERC, 393 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), aff'd, 410 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1981)
Clairton v. Labor Relations Board, 528 A.2d 1048 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1987)
Dade County Classroom Teachers Association v. Ryan, 225 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1969)
(ria, 1969)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964) 26 Firefighters Union Local 1186 v. City of Vallejo, 116 Cal.Rptr.
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964) 26 Firefighters Union Local 1186 v. City of Vallejo, 116 Cal.Rptr. 507, 526 P.2d 971 (Cal. 1974)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964) 26 Firefighters Union Local 1186 v. City of Vallejo, 116 Cal.Rptr. 507, 526 P.2d 971 (Cal. 1974)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964)
Fiberboard Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 222-223 (1964)

Matter of Arbitration between FOP 20 and the City of Miami, Gr: Fortune Bell, confirmed, Fraternal Order of Police, Miami Lodse 20 v. City of Miami, No. 88-09953(12) (Fla. 11th Cir. Ct., May 26, 1988), affirmed sub nom., City of Miami v. Fraternal Order of Police, Miami Lodse 20, No. 88-1564 (Fla. 3d DCA, April 25, 1989)			
(per curiam)			
Medi-Center, Mid-South <u>Hospital</u> , 221 NLRB 670 (1975) 25			
NLRB v. Hondo Drilling Company, 525 F.2d 864 (5th Cir. 1976) 36			
Oranse County PBA v. City of Casselberry, 457 \$0.2d 1125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), aff'd, 482 \$0.2d 336 (Fla. 1986) . 14			
Palm Beach Junior College Board of Trustees v. United Faculty of Palm Beach Junior College, 425 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), aff'd in relevant Dart, 475 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1985)			
Palm Beach Junior College			
Pasco County School Board v. Florida Public Employees Relation Commission, 353 \$0.2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)			
PERC v. District School Board of DeSoto County, 374 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979)			
Public Employees Relation Commission v. Dade County Police Benevolent Association, 467 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1985) 11			
San Mateo City School District v. PERB, 663 P.2d 523 (Cal. 1983)4			
Schermerhorn v. Local 1625, 141 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1962) 20			
School Board of Escambia County v. Public Emslovees Relation Commission, 350 So.2d 819, 821 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) 18			
School Board of Indian River County v. Indian River County Education Association			
School Board of Oranse County v. Palowitch, 367 So.2d 730 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979)			
School Board of Polk County v. Florida Public Employees Relations Commission, 399 So.2d 520 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) . 24			
Senior Accountants. Analysts and Appraisers Association v. City of Detroit, 459 N.W.2d. 15 (Mich.App. 1990) 31			
United Teachers of Dade v. Dade County School Board, 500 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1986)			

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS'

In June, 1985, two separate incidents occurred involving City of Miami Police Officers which resulted in their being required, as a condition of continued employment, to submit to mandatory chemical testing to determine the presence of drugs in their system. The first incident arose as a result of an order given to an off-duty police officer to submit to chemical testing after it was alleged that he had been observed using cocaine in the rest room of a restaurant. The second incident occurred when two officers who had made a number of arrests in a high drug area of the City had been accused by virtue of an anonymous phone call of purchasing drugs at a location where they had recently made an arrest.

The first officer declined to take the drug test and was terminated from his employment for refusal to obey a direct order. That officer submitted to a test from his personal physician which proved negative. The test was rejected by the City (R-150). The other two officers, upon advice of the union, submitted to the drug tests under protest. The tests proved negative and the officers suffered no disciplinary action.

At the time these officers were ordered to submit to chemical tests, the City of Miami ("City") and Fraternal Order of Police, Miami Lodge 20 ("FOP") were parties to a collective bargaining agreement covering the City's police officers with civil service

^{&#}x27;Except where otherwise noted, the facts are drawn from the opinions of the Third District Court of Appeal, <u>City of Miami v.</u> Fraternal Order of Police, Miami Lodge 20, 571 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

status (police officer, sergeant, lieutenant and captain) effective October 1, 1983 through September 30, 1985. The subject of involuntary drug testing was not expressly mentioned in the agreement. In addition, prior to the drug tests described above, no City of Miami police officer had ever been required to involuntarily submit to urinalysis testing (R-199). There was not at that time nor had there ever been at any time prior thereto any written City or departmental rule, regulation or policy specifically addressing the subject of involuntary drug screening of the City's police officers (R-187).

In February, 1985, the command staff of the police department had its first discussions concerning creation of a rule regarding chemical testing (R-193). By July, 1985, no regulation had yet been promulgated. In fact, the procedures were still in a draft form being prepared by a staff officer (R-245).

As early as 1980, however, the FOP and the City had discussed concern over the potential of drug and alcohol abuse in the Police Department and the need for a rehabilitation program (R-96-97). At no time during those discussions, which took place at meetings of the Personnel Practices Committee (a creation of the collective bargaining agreement), did management assert any right not to engage in drug screening (R-102). In addition to the absence of any departmental rule or regulation, the civil service rules of the city did not require drug screening as a condition of employment (R-98).

Between January and May, 1985, then FOP President Richard Kinne visited the office of Labor Relations at the Miami City Hall. During one of those visits, there were discussions between Kinne and the City's Labor Relations Director as to what issues would be placed on the table for collective bargaining for a successor agreement to the contract which would expire on September 30, 1985. Among the items specifically mentioned as "hot items" was drug screening (R-99-102).

In his conversations with FOP President Kinne, then City Labor Relations Director Dean Mielke indicated that he was aware of the problem and that it was an item that the City intended to raise as a subject of bargaining. At no time, did the City contend that it did not have the obligation to bargain rules for drug testing. Article 8 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement provides a bargained for procedure for all departmental investigations. The drug testing utilized in the present case constituted an investigation and interrogation under that article (R-99-102).

The parties bargained over the issue of chemical testing and exchanged written proposals concerning their respective positions on this issue. The parties ultimately concluded a collective bargaining agreement to cover the period of October 1, 1985 through September 30, 1987. That agreement was adopted by the Miami City Commission as Resolution No. 86-230. The collective bargaining agreement included within it Article 36 which sets forth a specific procedure for chemical screening for drug and alcohol abuse.

Three days after the second set of drug tests ordered in this case, FOP President Kinne, in accordance with the wishes of the membership, met with the City's police chief to discuss the incidents. Kinne told the chief that the members were "highly incensed because of chemical testing." The chief responded by stating that he had ordered "a full fledged investigation into the incidents" to discover "why the officers were ordered to get chemical testing."

When the matter was not resolved to the satisfaction of the FOP, an unfair labor practice charge was filed against the City of Miami based upon the City's failure to bargain in good faith pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 447.501(1)(c) and the fact that the City had interfered with the rights of public employees in violation of Fla. Stat. § 447.501(1)(a).

The City responded to the unfair labor practice charges by claiming that drug testing was not a mandatory subject of collective bargaining and alternatively, even if drug testing was a mandatory subject of bargaining, that the language of the current (1983-1985) collective bargaining agreement between the FOP and the City waived any rights that the FOP might have regarding bargaining over drug testing for the term of that agreement.

The Public Employees Relations Commission (PERC) found the charges to be sufficient and conducted evidentiary proceedings. In December, 1985, the Commission issued a final order finding that drug testing was a mandatory subject of bargaining and that the FOP did not clearly and unmistakably waive the right to bargain over

drug testing. At no time in the course of the proceedings did the City claim that its actions were justified by the existence of any exigent circumstance which would have permitted the City to administer the drug test immediately and bargain thereafter. In fact, the City specifically discounted the fact that exigent circumstances were an issue.

An appeal was timely taken by the City to the Third District Court of Appeal. A three-judge panel of the Court on January 31, 1989 unanimously upheld the decision of PERC and found that drug testing was a mandatory subject of bargaining and further found that there was no waiver on the part of the FOP. Again, throughout the appellate proceedings, the City vigorously contended that exigent circumstances were not an issue.

A motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc was filed. On April 13, 1989 an order setting the cause for a rehearing en banc was issued. On April 17, 1989, the Court directed the parties to address the issue as to whether the City's actions were justified by the existence of exigent circumstances. Supplemental briefs were filed in accordance with that direction. Again the City stated no exigent circumstances existed.

On April 17, 1990 a divided court issued an opinion on rehearing en banc reversing the three-judge panel and finding that drug testing was not a mandatory subject of bargaining.

A motion for rehearing and to certify the issue of drug testing as a mandatory subject of bargaining was filed by **the** FOP on May 2, **1990.** On January **22, 1991** the **FOP's** motion for rehearing

of the en banc decision was denied. The FOP's motion to certify as a question of great public importance the issue of whether drug testing was a mandatory subject of collective bargaining was granted. On January 31, 1991, a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed. This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the infancy of public employee collective bargaining in the State of Florida, the Supreme Court and the various District Courts of Appeal have stated without equivocation that public employees shall have all of the rights of collective bargaining enjoyed by their private sector counterparts except for the constitutionally prohibited right to strike. The courts and the Public Employees Relations Commission have carefully noted that public employees lack any statutory procedure to bring pressure upon an employer to make concessions in collective bargaining. Public employees in the State of Florida do not have the right to strike nor do they have the right of binding interest arbitration for the formation of the collective bargaining agreement. result, the courts of this state and PERC have painted with a "broad brush" the spectrum of subjects over which an employer is required to bargain as being the only effective counter balance to the power of the public employer.

"mandatory" a public employer is ultimately permitted to impose its will upon its employees if it is unable to reach an agreement over that particular subject. The statutory impasse resolution process set forth in Fla. Stat. § 447.403 permits an employer after a reasonable period of negotiations to declare an impasse and cease further negotiations. A special master will be appointed to hear the contentions of both sides and render an advisory opinion which may be summarily rejected by either the union or the City.

Thereafter, the City through its legislative body, is permitted to take such action "as it deems to be in the public interest" and to impose its will on that particular subject.

If, for example, the FOP and the City were unable to reach agreement over terms for a drug testing program, the City, through its City Commission could simply decide in a public hearing what that program shall be and the union and its members are obliged to follow it. What the en banc decision did, however, was eliminate the opportunity for employee input into a decision which can strip from them their livelihood and falsely brand them as a drug abuser in a society which is increasingly intolerant of that behavior.

The foregoing analysis is significant in that public employers in Florida have the absolute right to have a drug testing program based upon guidelines which they themselves determine.

8Y requiring bargaining, however, the City will have the opportunity to receive the input of the employee organization and to foster the harmony and stable labor relations which is the stated legislative intent in Florida's Public Employees Relations Act.

When the present case is stripped of the hysterical selfrighteousness which surrounds drug testing of law enforcement
officers, the issue is no different than any other issue of
mandatory bargaining. If Article I, Section 6 of the State
Constitution and the provisions of the Public Employees Relations
Act are to retain any significance, then the en banc decision must
be overturned and the panel decision reinstated.

The FOP and the City have been able to successfully complete a series of collective bargaining agreements over the subject of drug testing without the destruction of the police department or the City. All the claims that had been raised that management's prerogatives are somehow reduced if it is required to bargain have been rendered moot by the success of the parties at the bargaining table.

It is significant in the present case that the City of Miami could have easily have administered the drug tests to the three officers in question without having <u>first</u> being required to bargain. PERC has a longstanding doctrine involving "exigent circumstances." This permits an employer in a time of emergency to implement a managerial decision and then, at the earliest reasonable opportunity, bargain with the union.

In the present case, the City could have avoided all unfair labor practice liability by administering the drug tests as it did and then simply sitting it down with the FOP and bargaining over the subject. Perhaps the greatest irony is that the parties were already bargaining at the time the drug test was ordered. After the drug tests were ordered, the parties were able to complete a collective bargaining agreement with a fair and comprehensive procedure for future drug tests.

The City has repeatedly disclaimed that its actions were based on any exigent circumstances. It simply has decided that it does not have to bargain over a procedure which can literally brand a police officer as a criminal. The panel decision correctly

recognized the importance of the union's input in the process. The en banc decision, however, simply disregards the rights of public employees by employing a "balancing test" which has been specifically rejected by the Supreme Court.

This Court has since the adoption of the 1968 Constitution which created the right of public employee bargaining been the steadfast guardian of the right of the public employee to have his or her say in the conditions which govern their employment. For this Court to sustain the en banc decision would require a direct retreat from 23 years of well reasoned, compassionate jurisprudence and doom Florida's employees to a veritable dark ages. Each issue of controversy will be unilaterally determined by management to be a subject over which it need not bargain unless ordered. The result will be a flood of litigation which will clearly disserve the public interest.

This Court correctly recognized and should continue to recognize that any subject which bears upon wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment is a mandatory subject of bargaining. The legislature has seen fit to prevent public employers from being forced to accept policies which they do not find consistent with the efficient operation in government. The scales are already tipped in management's favor. If this Court upholds the en banc decision, those scales will tip further against the constitutional rights of public employees.

ARGUMENT

Τ.

COMPULSORY DRUG TESTING OF POLICE OFFICERS IS A MANDATORY SUBJECT OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The standard to be applied on review of statutory construction by an agency charged with the enforcement of that statute is to accord substantial deference to the agency's interpretation. This Supreme Court has agreed that a reviewing court <u>must</u> defer to an agency's interpretation of an operable statute as long the interpretation is consistent with legislative intent and is supported by substantial, competent evidence. <u>Public Employees Relation Commission v. Dade County Police Benevolent Association</u>, 467 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1985).

With specific regard to decisions of the Florida Public Employees Relation Commission in resolving unfair labor practices it has been held:

An expert tribunal such **as** PERC, is entitled to substantial deference in recognition of its special competence in dealing with labor problems. It is not our province to displace its choice between two conflicting views simply because we would have been justified in deciding the issue differently were it before us in the first instance.

Lewis v. City of Clearwater, 404 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

As the First District stated in <u>Pasco County School Board v.</u>

<u>Florida Public Employees Relation Commission</u>, 353 So.2d 108 (Fla. lst DCA 1978):

Expert tribunals are entitled to the greatest deference in recognition of their special competence in dealing with labor problems. In many areas their evaluation of the competing interest of employer/employee should unquestionably be given conclusive effect in determining the application of the pertinent sections of the act. <u>Id.</u> at p.116.

See also, City of Miami v. FOP, Miami Lodse 20, 511 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1987).

B. <u>FLORIDA LAW IS UNEQUIVOCAL IN MANDATING</u> BARGAINING OVER COMPULSORY DRUG TESTING.

The present case involves **a** determination of whether or not compulsory drug testing as a condition of continued employment by a police officer is a subject over which a public employer is required to bargain with the public employer organization. It is no different than any other mandatory bargaining case presented before the various courts of this State. The en banc holding of the Third District Court of Appeal creating a "balancing test" is in direct and express conflict with 23 years of precedence in this Supreme Court.

In 1968, the people of Florida amended the State Constitution to grant to hundreds of thousands of public employees the right to bargain collectively. In so doing, the people of Florida proscribed only a single activity; that is, the right to strike. Article I, Section 6, Constitution of Florida (1968).

Within months after the adoption of that Constitutional provision, this Court was called upon to define the scope of rights created for public employees. In Dade County Classroom

Teachers Association v. Ryan, 225 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1969), a unanimous Supreme Court expressly stated:

We hold that with the exception of the right to strike, public employees have the same rights of collective bargaining as are granted private employees by Section 6.

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