CLERK, SUPREME COURT

1991

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,394

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT - NO. 85-2863

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, MIAMI LODGE 20,

APPELLANT,

v.

CITY OF MIAMI, FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ANSWER BRIEF

OF

APPELLEE

Peter J. Hurtgen, Esq. Morgan, Lewis & Bockius 5300 Southeast Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131

June 12, 1991

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

Next, the FOP claims that the order issued by Colonel Billy R. Riggs ("Riggs") to Officers Ferrer and McKinnon to submit to a urinalysis was precipitated by an anonymous caller who had accused them of buying drugs. FOP I.B. p. 1 In fact, however, as reflected in the findings of fact issued by the

а

-2-

Hearing Officer and subsequently adopted by the Commission,³⁷ these officers were not ordered to submit to a urinalysis until the City obtained evidence corroborating an <u>eyewitness</u> report. According to the eyewitness, a uniformed black male police officer with a curly perm haircut left City police car 188 and approached a black male sitting on a porch. The two men shook hands, and the officer gave money to the other man. In return, the officer received several "nickel bags" -- small envelopes in which marijuana is commonly placed. The officer then returned to his vehicle where his partner, a uniformed white male officer, was waiting. The area of the City in which this incident occurred is known for its heavy drug use. (R. 217-219; 345; 435)

а

After receiving this information, Sergeant Reynolds of Internal Security called the eyewitness, who had left her name and telephone number, to verify the story. (R. 217-220; 345; 435) Reynolds' Internal Security investigation ascertained that vehicle 188 was being used by Officers Ferrer and McKinnon at the time of the drug buy. These officers regularly patrol the area where the incident occurred and both met the physical description of the officers provided by the eyewitness. (R. 199; 221; 345; 435) Additionally, the officers' worksheets for the day placed them in the area of the drug buy at the appropriate time.

-3-

^{3/} It is also noteworthy that the FOP did not except to any of these findings. (R. 463-464)

(R. 156; 199; 224; 345) Based on a review of this corroborating evidence, Officers Ferrer and McKinnon were ordered to report to a hospital for urinalyses. (R. 197; 316-319; 345; 436) The FOP then states that, although these officers submitted to the drug tests under protest, the test results proved negative. FOP I.B. p. 1 The City is at a loss to understand the FOP's representation that these tests proved negative == certainly this information is nowhere to be found in the record.

The FOP's statements concerning the City's position regarding its obligation to bargain rules for drug testing is confusing and internally inconsistent. Although the FOP admits that at no time during discussions between members of the Personnel Practices Committee "did management assert any right not to engage in drug screening," FOP I.B. p. 2, it also states that the City never contended that it did not have the obligation to bargain rules for drug testing. FOP I.B. p. 3 Clearly, if management did <u>not</u> assert the right <u>not</u> to engage in drug testing, then it must have, at least implicitly, maintained the right to do so. This, of course, is entirely consistent with the position that it did not have the obligation to bargain rules for drug testing. Furthermore, the Hearing Officer specifically noted that the Personnel Practice committee was established to deal with "non-negotiable items," (R. 458) and, that the City's willingness to bargain over drug screening did not mean that the City was obligated to do so. (R. 458)

а

a

6

-4-

Finally, the last point upon which the City disagrees concerns the FOP's statement that "[a]rticle 8 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement provides a bargained for procedure far all departmental investigations. The drug testing utilized in the present case constituted an investigation and interrogation under that article." FOP I.B. p. 3 Again, the Hearing Officer specifically rejected this finding of fact and the FOP failed to except to its decision. (R. 441, 459) This statement is based on the testimony of then FOP President Richard Kinne in which he stated his belief that a urinalysis was an interrogation or investigation. (R. 123) In addition, and as the Hearing Officer found, the urinalysis was not done in connection with any investigation or interrogation within the meaning of Article 8 of the collective agreement. (R. 454) Although urinalysis is deemed to constitute a search and seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes, it does not implicate the testimonial or communicative capacities contemplated by Article 8 of the parties' collective agreement. As such, urinalysis does not constitute an investigation or interrogation.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

а

As presented by the facts in this case, is the compulsory drug testing of police officers a mandatory subject of collective bargaining or, in the alternative, may a governmental entity require its police officers to submit to drug testing without having first entered into collective bargaining regarding the subject?

-5-

I.F. SUMMARY

Stripped of its legal idioms, the question before this court is really quite fundamental. Will collective bargaining over drug testing of sworn police officers reasonably suspected of illicit drug use result in decisions which are ultimately better for the community? Crucial to a proper analysis of this question is the recognition that this case is not simply one which involves the average public employee -- but, rather deals with police officers who are entrusted with public safety and empowered with enforcing the law.

The significance of the unique status of police officers is not mere hyperbole, as the FOP insists. It cannot seriously be disputed that police officers are responsible for the lives and safety of the citizenry and as such, occupy a position in which the public has a right to have absolute trust. Thus the City's ability to ferret out criminal misconduct by the imposition of a drug testing policy upon reasonable suspicion is central to the operation of the police force as an enterprise. At the same time, however, it also cannot be disputed that such a drug testing policy impacts upon the terms and conditions of these police officers' employment.

In search of an analytical vehicle to accommodate the interests of both the City and the FOP, the en banc court adopted a balancing test. Notwithstanding the fact that a balancing test, by definition, takes into account the interests of both parties, the FOP urges its rejection. While the FOP argues that

-6-

la

а

a balancing test conflicts with existing Florida law, there is no support for this position. In reality, the FOP's objection to a balancing test appears to be predicated on a recognition that the interests of the City and the public in ensuring the right to a drug-free police force outweigh the interests of the Union in negotiation, Finding it cannot prevail under this test, the FOP seeks its abandonment. Indeed, the competing interests of management and labor were recognized by this Court in United Teachers of Dade V. Dade City School Ed., 500 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1986). The adoption of a balancing test follows from this decision,

The <u>United Teachers</u> court similarly recognized that the scope of bargaining within the public and private sectors need not be identical. Private sector managerial concepts simply are not analogous to the City's interest in efficient and effective law enforcement. Moreover, unlike private sector employees, public employees have a unique ability to participate politically, as interest groups and voters in determining the scope and end result of mandatory bargaining. Thus, contrary to the FOP's assertions, public employees are not hindered by a lack of economic weapons, but rather have significant and real leverage through the political process. Indeed, public employees have the power to change their employer by simply exercising their voting rights, something private employees are clearly unable to accomplish. As such, a finding that drug testing is a

8

-7-

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS 5300 SOUTHEAST FINANCIAL CENTER, 200 S. BIŞCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131 • TELEPHONE (305) 579-0300 mandatory subject of bargaining under federal precedent does not mean that it should also be bargainable in the public sector.

In fact, other public sector jurisdictions have also declined to find drug testing a mandatory subject of bargaining where public safety and security is at stake, In all of these cases, the courts' reasoning turned on the peculiar characteristics of maintaining the integrity of government and providing for the safety and security of its citizens.

Finally, the FOP improperly attempts to raise the issue of "effects" bargaining at this late stage of litigation. "Effects" bargaining constitutes a separate and distinct doctrine, which has neither been considered by PERC nor the Third District Court of Appeal. As such, the parties have failed to develop a factual record upon which this Court can properly analyze this issue.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of a decision passing upon a question of great public importance is not restricted to the certified question, but rather encompasses the district court's entire opinion and judgment. <u>Zirin V. Charles Plizer Co.</u> 128 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1961); <u>Confederation of Canada Life Ins. Co, V.</u> <u>Vega Y. Arminan</u>, 144 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1962); <u>Hillsborough Ass'n v.</u> <u>City of Temple Terrace</u>, 332 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1976). In finding that PERC had erroneously interpreted a provision of law, the Third District Court of Appeal en banc properly exercised its jurisdiction to set aside the Commission's action. § 120.68(9),

-8-

a

Fla. Stat. (1989); Pasco County School Bd. of Polk County v. Florida Pub. Employees Relations Comm'n., 353 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

I.

INVOLUNTARY URINALYSIS OF POLICE OFFICERS REASONABLY SUSPECTED OF ILLICIT DRUG **USE** IS NOT A MANDATORY SUBJECT OF BARGAINING UNDER **FLORID**A LAW.

A. The En Banc Court Properly Applied a Balancing Test in Determining that the City has an Unquestionable Right to a Drug Free Police Force

The FOP argues that the Third District Court's en banc decision incorrectly employed a balancing test in determining that the City was not required to enter into collective bargaining prior to engaging in compulsory drug testing of police officers who were reasonably suspected of using illegal drugs. As support for this argument, FOP asserts that 1) Florida courts, and specifically the Supreme Court, have rejected the balancing test, FOP I.B. p. 10, 12, 22-23; and 2) concerns regarding a drug free workplace, even when those concerns relate to sworn police officers, are irrelevant to a rational analysis in the present case. FOP I.B. 19 As demonstrated below, these premises cannot withstand critical analysis and cannot support the FOP's conclusion that the en banc opinion was incorrectly decided and should be reversed.

Although the FOP repeatedly asserts throughout its brief that Florida courts have specifically rejected the balancing test as an effective means for determining whether a

-9-

subject is a mandatory subject of bargaining, it fails to direct the Court to any case where such test was in fact "rejected." FOP I.B. p. 10, 12, 22-23. It is readily evident that the FOP's bald assertion of "rejection" simply cannot be supported under Florida law. Moreover, the city submits that the appropriateness of utilizing a balancing test in determining whether a subject must be collectively bargained was foreshadowed by this Court in <u>United Teachers of Dade v. Dade city School Bd.</u>, 500 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1986).

The issue before this Court in United Teachers was whether the enactment and implementation of a Master Teacher Program intruded on the right to collective bargaining guaranteed public employees by Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution. Id. at 510. The resolution of this question entailed an analysis of management's right to make policy decisions as well as employees' rights to bargain over wages or terms and conditions of employment. Id. Although it was ultimately determined that this program did not constitute a wage and thus was not an abridgement of Article I, Section 6, Id. at 518, the analysis employed by this Court in reaching its conclusion is instructive in the instant matter.

The <u>United Teachers</u>' court affirmed the trial court's determination that the Master Teacher Program was constitutional, but rejected the court's underlying rationale. Specifically, the trial court's reliance on the legislature's status as a nonemployer was disapproved. In **so** doing, this Court noted that

-10-

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS

5300 SOUTHEAST FINANCIAL CENTER, 200 S. BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131 • TELEPHONE (305)579-0300

8

such an approach "ignores the real impact or practical effect legislation may have on the rights guaranteed by Article I, Section 6." Id. at 510. The court explained that the analysis employed in resolving this issue must be equally applicable to cases arising from disputes between the local school boards (the legally defined employer) and the teacher's bargaining representative, which may produce different factual or procedural scenarios. Significantly, the court then determined that:

> The correct analysis of each of these situations, however, must encompass not only the legislature, the State Board of Education's, or the local school board's constitutional authority to make educational policy decisions, but also must focus on the impact such decisions have on public employees' constitutionally guaranteed collective bargaining rights.

Id. at 511.

This pronouncement clearly recognized the coexistence of the public employer's right to make policy decisions and public employees' rights to collectively bargain. More importantly, and contrary to the FOP's contentions, this Court also acknowledged that the scope of bargaining cannot be determined by neatly distinguishing "policy" from "conditions of employment." <u>Id</u>. at 513, In rejecting the notion that a subject is necessarily a mandatory subject of bargaining once it is found to be a condition of employment, this Court noted with approval the Supreme Court of Connecticut's view that:

> Many educational policy decisions make an impact on a teacher's conditions of employment and the converse is equally true. There

> > -11-

is no unwavering line separating the two categories.

Id., <u>citing, West Hartford Educ. Ass'n, Inc. v DeCourcy</u>, 295 A.2d 526 (Conn. 1972).

As a result of these overlapping rights, this Court further noted that most courts have determined these "issues on a case-by-case basis, but, as a starting point for their analysis, have tended to view the test of bargainability as the degree of impact on wages, hours or other conditions of employment." Id. (emphasis added) Importantly, this proposition was supported by other public sector decisions which, like the en banc court in the instant matter, have specifically adopted a balancing test. See, e.g., Sutherlin Educ. Ass'n v Sutherlin School Dist., 548 P.2d 204 (Or. App. 1976); Pennsylvania Labor Relations v. State College Area School Dist., 337 A.2d 262 (Pa. 1975). other cases cited by this Court utilized tests such as whether an issue significantly related to terms and conditions of employment, Clark County School Dist. v. Local Government Employee Manasement ions Ed., 530 P.2d 114 (Nev. 1974); whether the subject materially affects the terms and conditions of employment, Aberdeen Educ. Ass'n v. Aberdeen Bd. of Educ., 215 N.W.2d 837 (S.D. 1974); and whether a subject is primarily related to conditions of employment, City of Beloit v. Wisconsin Employment <u>Relations Comm'n</u>, 242 N.W.2d 231 (Wis. 1976).

Thus in view of this Court's reasoning in <u>United</u> <u>Teachers</u>, the FOP's insistence that Florida law has "rejected" a balancing test is simply wrong. It is clear that not only has

-12-

there been no such rejection, but in fact this Court has recognized that overlapping management/employee rights cannot be simply be categorized as "policy" or "conditions of employment," over which, in the latter case, management is automatically required to bargain. It is true that the Master Teacher Program in <u>United Teachers</u> was not found to be a wage,^{4/} and as such, overlapping management/employee rights were not implicated. However, it is equally true that in rejecting the trial court's reasoning, this Court anticipated that situations would arise that impacted on both sets of rights. The en banc court's adoption of a balancing test to accommodate these rights was a logical progression from the reasoning employed in <u>United</u> <u>Teachers.</u>

Notwithstanding the rationale of <u>United Teachers</u>, the balancing test adopted by the en banc court does not conflict with existing Florida law, as the FOP would have this Court believe. Specifically, the FOP claims that the en banc ruling directly conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decisions in <u>School Ed. of Orange County v. Palowitch</u>, 367 So.2d 730 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) and <u>School Ed. of Indian River County v.</u>

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